COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CODY WATERS AND KAYCEE WATERS

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

CASE NO:2006-TS-01975

ALBERT ALLEGUE d/b/a REMAX BY THE GULF

APPELLEE

Appeal from
The Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Oral Argument Requested

Calvin Taylor, MSB# Attorney at Law 1113 Jackson Avenue Pascagoula, MS 39568 TEL: (228) 696-0118 FAX: (228) 696-0118

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

Did the defendant owe a duty to the plaintiffs to disclose information within its knowledge that would potentially affect the value of the property?

II.

Did the circuit court commit reversible error when it granted summary judgment to the defendant when there is an issue of fact as to the defendant's misrepresentation and the plaintiffs' reliance on same?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a summary judgment ruling in favor of the defendant, Albert Allegue. The defendant, Allegue, acted as a real estate broker for a piece of property located in Ocean Springs, Mississippi. Allegue had actual knowledge that the property in question was only 2500 square feet. Despite this knowledge, Allegue marketed the property as containing 3000 square feet and continued to represent that the property was 3000 square feet even after the plaintiffs questioned this assertion. There are clear jury questions as to Allegue's misrepresentation and plaintiffs' reliance on this misrepresentation, and the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the defendant.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

On March 21, 2006, Cody and Kacee Waters, husband and wife, filed suit against Manual Pina, Lisa Pina, Albert Allegue d/b/a Remax by the Gulf. In this suit, the Waters claimed that they had purchased the property located at 8000 Fountainbleau Road in Ocean Springs, Mississippi, from the Pinas. (RE 2). On July 25, 2006, Albert Allegue filed a motion for

summary judgment. (RE 3). The circuit court granted this motion on October 16, 2006. (RE 4). On November 14, 2006, the plaintiffs timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (RE 5).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The plaintiffs, Cody and Kacee Waters, are husband and wife. Subsequent to Hurricane Katrina, the plaintiffs were in desperate need for a home on the Mississippi Gulf Coast. They surveyed the limited selections on the Gulf Coast and viewed a home being marketed by Albert Allegue, d/b/a ReMax on the Gulf. Allegue marketed this home as containing 3000 square feet. (RE 6). In reliance on this representation, the Waters made an offer on the home and entered into a "Contract for the Sale and Purchase of Real Estate" on December 12, 2005. (RE 7). In this Contract for Sale, the Pinas agreed to sell the home "together with . . . all items in MLS and on Sellers Disclosure." (RE 7). Both the MLS and the Property Disclosure Statement indicated that the property was 3000 square feet. (RE 8, RE 9). The Mississippi Real Estate Commission indicates on its "Working with a Real Estate Broker," that Allegue, as the Seller's Agent, has a duty of honesty and fair dealing and a "duty to disclose all facts known to the Seller's agent materially affecting the value of the property which are not known to, or readily observable by, the parties in a transaction." (RE 10).

Despite this duty, Allegue marketed and represented to the Waters throughout his dealings with the Waters that the property in question was 3000 square feet. Allegue knew that the property was only 2500 square because he had represented the Pinas when they first purchased the home in question. (RE 11).

Prior to closing on the home, the Waters were told that there was a discrepancy in what the Pinas and Allegue were stating with regard to the square footage. The Waters questioned the Pinas and Allegue and were assured that the property was indeed 3000 square feet of living

space. (RE 11). On March 2, 2006, the Waters received conclusive evidence that the home contained less than 3000 square feet. (RE 11).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DEFENDANT OWED A DUTY TO THE PLAINTIFFS TO DISCLOSE ALL MATERIAL FACTS THAT ADVERSLY AFFECTS THE PROPERTY VALUE.

Mississippi law recognizes that a broker has a duty to make disclosures of any information that adversely affects the value of property that the broker is listing. Miss. Code Ann. §511. All disclosures are required to be made in "good faith." "[G]ood faith means honest in fact in the conduct of the transaction." Id. Mississippi law also provides that "any person who willfully or negligently violates or fails to perform any duty . . . shall be liable in the amount of actual damages suffered by a transferee." Miss. Code Ann. §523. See also Lane v. Oustalet, 850 So.2d 1143 (Miss. App. 2002) (finding that a broker may be held liable to a purchaser of real property for failing to disclose that the property had suffered damage due to termite infestation); Lee Hawkins Realty, Inc. v. Moss, 724 So.2d 1116 (Miss. App. 1998) (finding that broker has duty to deal honestly in its dealings with the purchasers of real property).

II.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANT.

Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a party is entitled to summary judgment:

[I]f the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

"The purpose of Rule 56 is to expedite the determination of actions on their merits and eliminate unmeritorious claims or defenses without the necessity of a full trial." Comments to M.R.C.P. 56. "Rule 56 provides the means by which a party may pierce the allegations in the pleadings and obtain relief by introducing outside evidence showing that there are no fact issues that need to be tried." Comment to M.R.C.P. 56. "If the claim or defense of the non-moving party fails as a matter of law, it does not matter that there are disputes about non-material facts. Vickers v. First Mississippi National Bank, 458 So.2d 1055 (Miss. 1984).

Once the moving party presents a basis for summary judgment, the non-moving party must present sufficient evidence to create a factual dispute on material issues. Factual disputes must be both genuine and material and "if the evidence is merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be granted." *See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).

When the moving party meets its burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact due to the complete failure of proof on an essential element of the claim, the burden shifts to the opposing party to demonstrate that a genuine issue of material fact exists for trial. Summary judgment is inappropriate if plaintiffs set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 1356, 89 L.Ed.2d. 538 (1986).

Under this standard, the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the defendant. It is undisputed that the property purchased by the Waters was marketed at 3000 square feet despite the fact that it was only 2500 square feet. It is also undisputed that Allegue was aware of this fact at the time he marketed the property and in his dealings with the Waters. It is equally undisputed that Allegue failed to disclose this information within his knowledge

despite being asked a direct question by the Waters concerning the square footage of the property in question.

Yet, the circuit court granted summary judgment to the defendant finding that plaintiffs' knowledge of the discrepancy prior to closing meant that plaintiffs could not seek damages for Allegue's misrepresentation. The record does not support this finding. The circuit court relied heavily on a response of the plaintiffs to a Request for Admission filed by the defendant. The Request for Admission and the response to same is:

REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 1: Admit that prior to the closing/purchase of the subject residence you had knowledge that the square footage of the subject home was not as previously advertised or communicated.

RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR ADMISSION NO. 1: Admit that prior to the closing/purchase of the subject residence a potential square footage discrepancy had been communicated to Plaintiffs by the home appraiser. The rest of the request is denied.

(RE 12). There is a clear jury question as to the plaintiffs knowledge of the actual square footage of the subject home. Despite plaintiffs' knowledge that a discrepancy existed does not equate to knowledge of the actual square footage.

Even if the plaintiffs had knowledge of the actual square footage, they are still entitled to a remedy. Plaintiffs were in desperate need for a home after Hurricane Katrina, and homes were difficult to find. Although the contract allowed plaintiffs to cancel the contract in the event of a breach (RE 13), the plaintiffs were not in a position to do so. They had already expended substantial time and effort in locating this home. If plaintiffs had cancelled the contract, they could conceivably have been in the position of not being able to find a home for some time. The plaintiffs, being the parents of three small children, did not have this luxury.

In addition to giving the plaintiffs the right to cancel the contract for a breach, the contract also provided plaintiffs with the right to enter a suit for damages. (RE 13). The contract

specifically refers to the MLS listing that states that the property was 3000 square feet and to the property disclosure statement that likewise states that the property was 3000 square feet. (RE 14).

CONCLUSION

The circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the defendant in that there were clear issues of fact that only a jury can decide. A jury must be allowed to decide defendant's knowledge of the square footage of the subject property and plaintiffs' reliance on same.