#### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CODY WATERS AND KAYCEE WATERS

**APPELLANTS** 

**VERSUS** 

CASE NO: 2006-CA-01975

ALBERT ALLEGUE D/B/A REMAX BY THE GULF

APPELLEE

Appeal from The Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

Oral Argument Requested

PATRICK R. BUCHANAN (MSB W. F. HORNSBY, III (MSB BROWN•BUCHANAN•SESSOMS P.A. 796 VIEUX MARCHE, SUITE 1 POST OFFICE BOX 1377 BILOXI, MS 39533-1377

TELEPHONE: (228) 374-2999 FACSIMILE: (228) 435-7090

#### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CODY WATERS AND KAYCEE WATERS

**APPELLANTS** 

**VERSUS** 

CASE NO: 2006-CA-01975

### ALBERT ALLEGUE D/B/A REMAX BY THE GULF

APPELLEE

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I.

The duty of a real estate agent, representing a seller, to a purchaser is prescribed and mandated by *Miss. Code Ann.* § 89-1-505(1).

II.

The facts taken as presented by Plaintiffs' did not present a genuine issue of material fact for a jury, therefore the Circuit Court correctly granted summary judgment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This lawsuit arises out of the sale of property located at 8000 Fountainbleau Road, Ocean Springs, Mississippi, which this Defendant represented the sellers of said property and marketed the same based upon the disclosure statement drafted by the sellers. (See Complaint - Rec. pgs. 6 - 29). Plaintiffs' Complaint alleges that this Defendant knew or should have known that there was a discrepancy between statements relative to approximate square footage and the actual square footage. (See Complaint - Rec. pg. 8). Plaintiffs knew the actual square footage of the subject property and the existence of a discrepancy prior to the closing/purchase of the subject property. (See Plaintiffs' Response to Request for Admissions - Rec. pgs. 89 - 91). Plaintiffs' brief incorrectly and without citation asserts as if it is fact that this Defendant had actual knowledge that the property was being represented incorrectly. (See Appellant Brief - pg. 2). In fact, this Defendant, Mr. Allegue, represents sellers exclusively and is involved in the marketing

aspects of the real estate business, while his associate/ wife represents prospective purchasers. While Mr. Allegue's real estate firm did represent the Pina's in the purchase of the home at question here some years prior to its being offered for sale, it was his associate/ wife who handled the purchase entirely. Mr. Allegue had no actual or constructive notice that the disclosure filled out by the Pina's was erroneous or mistaken in any way.

The trial court correctly determined that regardless of all the allegations of fraud and misrepresentation, Plaintiff could not meet an essential element of any claim, damages and could not show a reliance upon any alleged misrepresentation as based upon the evidence the Circuit Court determined that Plaintiffs had ample knowledge well prior to closing on the property.

# B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

The Course of the Proceedings presented in the Appellants Brief is not controverted.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Plaintiffs failed to present a genuine issue of material fact to the trial court and as so the entry of summary judgment should be affirmed. Plaintiffs attempts to characterize their knowledge of the actual square footage as knowledge of a discrepancy in an effort to argue a factual issue is without merit and does not present a true issue for a jury. Plaintiffs cannot show that they relied upon the alleged misrepresentation and therefore fail to meet an essential element of their claim.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Plaintiffs' complaint alleges they entered into a contract to purchase the subject house and property in question based, at least in part, upon the representations, disclosures and reports of the numerous Defendants named in this lawsuit. (See Complaint-Rec. pgs. 6 -29). Plaintiffs allege that they hired a professional to perform an appraisal of the subject property. (See Complaint - Rec. pg. 8). The appraisal obtained by and for Plaintiffs reported the square footage represented by the Multiple Listing Service and property disclosure statement was incorrectly listed at 3000 square feet; and the actual square feet was 2500 square feet. Plaintiffs' knowledge of this discrepancy was obtained prior to the closing of the property and transfer of ownership. (See Affidavits of Camille Thomas and Jack Thomas - Rec. pgs. 192-193). This fact has been conclusively established by Plaintiffs' own admissions. (See Plaintiffs' Response to Request for Admissions - Rec. pgs 89-91). Plaintiffs with full knowledge of the actual square footage of the property attempted to re-negotiate the sales price of the property to which the sellers allowed for recission or continuation under the contract. Plaintiffs' chose to continue under the contract.

Plaintiffs' have and continue to disparage the intelligence of the Court by characterizing Plaintiffs' prior knowledge of the square footage as knowledge of a discrepancy. (Appellants Brief pg 2). The only evidence presented to the Court supports a very obvious conclusion of prior knowledge as determined by the Circuit Court. (See Affidavits of Camille Thomas and Jack Thomas - Rec. pgs. 192-193, Plaintiffs' Response to Request for Admissions - Rec. pgs 89-91, and the Circuit Court Memorandum

Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-200). Appellants brief continues to assert facts not properly cited alleging that Plaintiffs questioned all the Defendants about the square footage and that the Defendants assured Plaintiffs that the square footage was 3000. (Appellants' Brief pgs. 2-3). The Brief cites to RE 11 which is the signature page of Plaintiffs' Complaint, hardly admissible or supportive for surviving summary judgment or for supporting a reversal on appeal. Appellants brief continues to assert without proper citation as to when Plaintiffs received conclusive evidence that the home contained less than 3000 sq. feet. (Appellants' Brief pgs. 2-3). These blind assertions cannot be addressed without proper citation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DUTY OF A REAL ESTATE AGENT, REPRESENTING A SELLER, TO A PURCHASER IS PRESCRIBED AND MANDATED BY MISS.

CODE ANN. § 89-1-505(1).

Appellants' brief fails to provide accurate citation to all the statutes cited in this section and fails to pinpoint cite the cases cited making a reply very difficult if not impossible to address accurately the position attempted to be advocated by Appellants' brief. In short there is no such statute as *Miss. Code Ann. § 511 or 523 [sic]*. Further, the case law is devoid of pinpoint citation.

The Lane v. Oustalet case cited in Appellants' brief is a case of dual agency whereby one principle was treated differently than another and evidence was presented providing a genuine issue of material fact. That is not the case here. The facts are taken as presented by Plaintiffs and supported by affidavit and not challenged by Plaintiffs.

Further, the failure to disclose in the *Lane* case was a failure of the agent to disclose information provided by the sellers disclosures. *Lane v. Oustalet*, 850 So.2d 1143, 1149 (Miss.App.,2002). Very, very different than the circumstances found in the case at bar where the facts support that this Defendant, real estate agent, represented the property based upon the property disclosure statement of the sellers as mandated by Mississippi Statute. *Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-505*.

Mississippi Code Annotated § 89-1-505 (Limit on duties and liabilities with respect to information required or delivered), states in pertinent part: (1) Neither the transferor nor any listing or selling agent shall be liable for any error, inaccuracy or omission of any information delivered pursuant to Sections 89-1-501 through 89-1-523 if the error, inaccuracy or omission was not within the personal knowledge of the transferor or that listing or selling agent, was based on information timely provided by public agencies or by other persons providing information as specified in subsection (2) that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Sections 89-1-501 through 89-1-523, and ordinary care was exercised in obtaining and transmitting it.

Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-505(1). The allegations in Plaintiffs' Complaint are directly addressed by Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-505(1). (See Complaint - Rec. pgs. 6 - 29). The allegations in Plaintiffs' Complaint do not allege actionable facts for any recovery based upon Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-505(1). This Defendant's only duty was to comply with applicable Mississippi Real Estate requirements including Miss. Code Ann. § 89-1-505.

Of no matter are the actions of this Defendant as the knowledge of Plaintiffs well prior to close prevents survival of an action for misrepresentation. The elements for any misrepresentation claim are: (1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth; (5) the speaker's intent that the representation should be acted upon by the hearer and in the manner reasonably

contemplated; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on the representation's truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury. *Allen v. Mac Tools, Inc.* 671 So.2d 636, 642 (Miss.,1996). As pointed out by the Circuit Court, without reliance, Plaintiffs cannot survive summary judgment.

Appellants' brief fails entirely to apply the attempted citations to the case at bar. The entire section is merely a collection of case cites lacking pinpoints and statements purporting to be statute which are impossible to review as cited. No attempts have been made to link the cites to the case at bar. The Mississippi Supreme Court has frequently held that propositions unsupported by reasons and authority are considered to have been waived. *Thibodeaux v. State*, 652 So.2d 153, 155 (Miss.1995); *Dozier v. State*, 247 Miss. 850, 157 So.2d 798, 799 (1963).

II THE FACTS TAKEN AS PRESENTED BY PLAINTIFFS' DID NOT PRESENT A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT FOR A JURY, THEREFORE THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Appellants' brief cites to numerous cases outlining the standard for summary judgment in Mississippi. The brief fails to address the lack of a genuine issue of material fact in the case at bar. As is pointed out in the Circuit Court's Memorandum Opinion, the only evidence presented supports the fact that a contract to purchase the property was entered into on December 12,2005, which was marketed as 3000 square feet based upon the property disclosure statement. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs.

194-195). Plaintiffs were informed by their appraiser that the actual square footage was 2500, December 28, 2005. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-195). At the request of Plaintiff, Cody Waters, the square footage was re-measured and yielded the same previously reported results. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-195). It is at this point that a reduced sales price was argued for at the request of Plaintiffs. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-195). The requested reduction was declined and instead the sellers offered to release the Plaintiffs from the contract. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-195). Plaintiffs opted to continue with the sale and the property closed on January 18, 2006. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-195).

The elements for any misrepresentation claim are: (1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth; (5) the speaker's intent that the representation should be acted upon by the hearer and in the manner reasonably contemplated; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on the representation's truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury. *Allen v. Mac Tools, Inc.* 671 So.2d 636, 642 (Miss.,1996). The above must be proven by clear and convincing evidence.

Levens v. Campbell, 733 So. 2d 753, 762 (Miss. 1999). As opined by the Circuit Court, based upon the facts presented by Plaintiffs and supported by affidavits, Plaintiffs failed to establish the essential reliance element and therefore, summary judgment was proper.

(See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pg. 197).

Appellants brief asserts that it is undisputed that Defendant/ Allegue was aware of the actual square footage of the home at the time he marketed it. (Appellant Brief pg. 4). This is absolutely disputed and the same lacks citation. The brief immediately continues with more baseless, citeless allegations immaterial for this appeal. The Circuit Court opined that regardless of the actions alleged, though unsupported in response to summary judgment, Plaintiffs lack the essential element of reliance. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194 - 200).

Plaintiffs continued assertion that though the actual measured square footage of the house was reported to them twice on December 28, 2005, and though they used this knowledge to attempt to reduce the price of the home, they still did not have knowledge of the actual square footage of the house. (See Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194-195 and Plaintiffs' Complaint - Rec. pgs. 6 - 29). The brief asserts that there is a jury question as to Plaintiffs knowledge. (Appellant's Brief pg. 5). The very notion of such flies in the face of logic and reason and is at best insulting to the intelligence of the Court system.

Appellant's brief continues, asserting that even if the Plaintiffs had knowledge of the square footage, they are still entitled to a remedy. (Appellant's Brief pg. 5). Plaintiffs assert this without authority or citation to even secondary authority. The Mississippi Supreme Court has frequently held that propositions unsupported by reasons and authority are considered to have been waived. Thibodeaux v. State, 652 So.2d 153, 155 (Miss.1995); Dozier v. State, 247 Miss. 850, 157 So.2d 798, 799 (1963). The circumstances argued here do not provide for compensation under the law. The law on

the subject is the only pertinent factor to consider and Plaintiffs have failed to present authority to support their argument.

Plaintiffs argue that because the contract allows for the filing of a lawsuit then the suit should survive summary judgment. (*Appellants' Brief pgs. 5 - 6*). The Plaintiffs were allowed to seek redress through the courts, they simply failed to meet the essential elements of the claims made against the Defendants and therefore could not survive summary judgment.

Plaintiffs argue in the conclusion that a jury must be allowed to decide Defendants' knowledge of the square footage of the subject property. (Appellants' Brief pg. 6). The memorandum decision of the Circuit Court outlines the findings of fact as to Plaintiffs' knowledge which were not controverted by Plaintiffs: An appraisal was performed which reported the square footage on the house as 2500 sq. ft. (Circuit Court Memorandum Decision - Rec. pgs. 194 - 200). Upon receiving such information, Plaintiff Cody Waters, requested the appraisers to re-measure the square footage, which it was and the same was verified as 2500 sq. ft. Id. Plaintiff, Cody Waters then requested that his real estate agent use this information to renegotiate the price. *Id.* In response, the Pinas would not reduce the price but in light of the information would release the Waters, Plaintiffs, from the contract. Id. Plaintiffs' opted to continue with the contract and close on the property some three weeks later. What is there for a jury to decide? Plaintiffs' characterize their knowledge as knowledge of a discrepancy, as if this characterization creates a jury issue. Jury issues are based upon factual disputes of which there are none in the present action. Plaintiffs presented no affidavits to the Circuit Court which would contradict the facts supported by this Defendant's Brief and supporting Affidavits. The facts are undeniable and Plaintiffs mere difference in characterization of their knowledge does not present an issue for a jury. The very notion of the same defies logic and if applied would render summary judgment obsolete entirely for all cases.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the facts presented by Plaintiffs and supported by affidavit the judgment of the Circuit Court should be affirmed. Plaintiffs have wholly failed to present facts which support survival of summary judgment. Plaintiffs' knowledge of the actual square footage is obvious and to argue otherwise flies in the face of reason. The Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.